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Thursday, November 28, 2013


--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Good morning.  My name a Christine Long and I am the presiding member today.  Along with me are my colleagues Kathy Spoel and Paula Conboy, fellow Board Members.


The matter before us today is Board file EB-2013-0318.  On September 4th, 2013 the Board, on its own motion, issued a notice of intention to make an order for revocation of Energhx Green Energy Corporation's electricity retailer licence, specifically ER-2010-0236, and its gas marketer's licence, GM-2010-0237, under section 112.4 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, on the grounds that Energhx failed to pay an administrative penalty and file certain information with the Board.


By letter dated September 10th, 2013 Energhx requested that the Board hold a hearing in this matter.


On October 4th, 2013 the Board issued a supplementary notice of intention to make an order for revocation of Energhx's Electricity and gas marketer's licence, alleging a failure to pay 2013/2014 annual licence fees.


May I begin by having appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. SCHUMANN:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Board members.  Good morning.  My name is Fredrick Schumann.  My last name is S-C-H-U-M-A-N-N.  I am appearing as compliance counsel.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Schumann.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Hello.  My name is Emmanuel Ogedengbe, appearing on behalf of Energhx Green Energy Corporation.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Dr. Ogedengbe.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'm Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for Board Staff, and with me on behalf of Board Staff is Michael Bell.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


Mr. Schumann, before we begin, Mr. Schumann and Dr. Ogedengbe, are there any preliminary matters?


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes, I have two matters that I would like to address.


MS. LONG:  Please proceed.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SCHUMANN:  Madam Chair, I gave to Mr. Bell before the hearing began five copies of the book of documents that I filed with the Board some weeks ago now.  What I propose is that during the examination-in-chief of compliance counsel's one witness, Lou Mustillo, that book be marked as Exhibit No. 1.  He will identify each document in the book.


MS. LONG:  That's fine.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And the other preliminary matter is I request an opportunity to make some written permissions some reasonable period after the hearing.  I understand that this is the Board's practice and was followed in the March 2012 hearing in this matter.


MS. LONG:  We will take that under consideration.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you, Madam chair.


MS. LONG:  Dr. Ogedengbe, did you have any preliminary matters?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  The only preliminary matters that I have is the fact that I sent a document after the deadline for me to send.


MS. LONG:  I believe that was tab 21 of your book?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  We've received that.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  We didn't receive a consent.  That's why.


MS. LONG:  And we will arrange to have that marked as an exhibit when you give your evidence.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Thank you very much.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Sorry, there is one more thing, Madam Chair.  I intend to rely on one additional document, which is the letter that you referred to of September 10, 2013, from Energhx requesting the hearing.  It's not in my book of documents, but it was, I understand, posted publicly on the website.  Since it is Energhx's letter, I submit that it would not be unfair to allow us to rely on it in this proceeding.


MS. LONG:  Does Dr. Ogedengbe have a copy of that?


MR. SCHUMANN:  I can certainly give him one now, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Could you please pass copies so that we may see the exact letter that you are referring to?


So, Mr. Schumann, perhaps you could proceed.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. LONG:  And at the Tribunal, you have the option of standing or you may sit to do your chief or your submissions.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Since there is no podium...


MS. LONG:  Whatever you are more comfortable with.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So I prepared a brief oral opening statement, but I am certainly prepared to proceed to call Mr. Mustillo immediately.


MS. LONG:  The choice is yours.  If you would like to do a brief summary, that's fine; if you would like to proceed to your direct, that's fine as well.
Opening Statement by Mr. Schumann:

MR. SCHUMANN:  Well, I will just quickly say, then, that we only intend to call one witness, Lou Mustillo of the Ontario Energy Board compliance staff.  You will hear from him about the three contraventions by Energhx that we will say support revocation of the licences.


First, failure to pay the administrative penalty of $10,000 levied by this Board in March 2012, despite several extensions of the deadline to pay.


Second, the failure to provide the Board with the information that Energhx was required to provide, an order of the Board, which became a special condition of its licences.


And third, the failure to pay the licence fees for both the gas marketer licence and the electricity retailer licence for the year 2013 to 2014.


The evidence will also establish, I say, that Energhx is not using these licences in any significant way.


By this I mean that I understand Energhx to only have six electricity retail customers who are friends and family of the principal persons involved with Energhx.


It has no gas marketing customers, and it has suspended all marketing activity that would bring in new customers since, I understand, September 2011, for more than two years.


I understand that -- or I anticipate that this evidence will be largely undisputed, and so I think, at least in terms of the relevant facts, we can anticipate a relatively focused and efficient hearing this morning.  I would like, though, the Board to keep two things in mind as it hears the evidence.


First, obviously the hearing is not to relitigate the March 2012 decision to levy the administrative penalty.  The acts of contravention found by the Board in that hearing are conclusive.


More importantly, though, the decision to impose the penalty and the level of the penalty is not up for a re-determination today.


And secondly, the three contraventions at issue that I just summarized are not just contraventions of market regulations or conduct rules.  Not to downplay the importance of those rules, but the contraventions that we are dealing with today are in fact breaches of orders of this Board and conditions of Energhx's licences, which I say are of a different order when it comes to determining the appropriate response by the Board.


So I am now ready to call Mr. Mustillo as my first witness.


MS. LONG:  Just so we can scope how we are going to proceed this morning, what we will do is, Mr. Schumann, you will call your first witness.  You will do chief.  Then, Dr. Ogedengbe, you will have an opportunity to ask questions of the witness.  Board Staff will have an opportunity to ask questions.  And the Panel will have an opportunity to ask questions.


So that's how we will proceed.  Mr. Schumann, please call your first witness, and we will arrange to have him affirmed.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Mr. Mustillo, please come forward.

LOU MUSTILLO, AFFIRMED


MR. SCHUMANN:  Mr. Mustillo, I am going to hand you a book of documents and one loose document.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Schumann, would you like to make that entire book of documents an exhibit now?


MR. SCHUMANN:  I would like to mark it provisionally as Exhibit No. 1...


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.


MR. SCHUMANN:  I think it should be marked now as for identification in a provisional way, but as Mr. Mustillo identifies the documents, at the end of that process we can make the marking final.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So that will be Exhibit K1.1.  That's the entire book of documents.  And then I guess if there is specific documents in there that you would like to make -- identify, Mr. Schumann, you will let us know.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes, I think they can probably be identified by tab number in the book --


MS. LONG:  And then, Mr. Schumann, you are going to do the September 10th letter separately, do I understand it, as a separate exhibit?  Thank you.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  Enforcement Team BOOK OF DOCUMENTS.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Schumann:


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay, Mr. Mustillo.  What do you do for a living?


MR. MUSTILLO:  I hold the position of advisor in the retail markets and compliance management group here at the Ontario Energy Board.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And how did you become familiar with the matters before the Board today?


MR. MUSTILLO:  I was the lead inspector assigned in the previous case that was referred to this morning, and I gave evidence before the Board Panel in that matter.  I was assigned to monitor compliance with the Board's decision and order coming out of that file, and that was essentially how I became involved in the matter.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Can you please take a look at the loose document that I handed you.  Do you recognize it?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, I do.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you tell me what it is?


MR. MUSTILLO:  This is the letter from Energhx dated September 10th, 2013, and it is the letter essentially that requests or requires the Board to hold a hearing in this matter.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  I'd ask that to be marked as the next exhibit, please.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  LETTER FROM ENERGHX DATED 10 SEPTEMBER 2013.

MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  You can put that letter aside, please, for now, Mr. Mustillo.


Can you please take up the book of documents that was marked as an exhibit and turn to tab 1.  Do you recognize that document?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, I do.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you tell us what it is?


MR. MUSTILLO:  This is the Board's decision and order in case EB-2011-0311.  The decision and order was from March 2012 in the previous Energhx case.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  At tab 2, please.  Sorry, let's go back to tab 1.  What did the Board order in that proceeding?


MR. MUSTILLO:  The Board ordered Energhx to pay an administrative penalty in the amount of $10,000 by December 31st, 2012.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  And tab 2, do you recognize that document?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, I do.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you tell me what it is?


MR. MUSTILLO:  This is the Board's decision and order from April 30th, 2012 which extended the renewal of Energhx's licences, both its gas and electricity licences.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Were there any special conditions on that renewal?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, there were.  Those are set out in -- they are attached, I should say, to both of the licences.  There were four special conditions.  One was that Energhx provide by June 28th, 2013 audited financial statements for the 2012 fiscal year, that Energhx provide a description of its compliance monitoring and quality-assurance program, a summary of that testing program as well, and a description of Energhx's strategy going forward to achieve continuing compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  As far as you know, has Energhx provided that information?


MR. MUSTILLO:  No, it has not.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And as far as you know, has Energhx paid the $10,000 administrative penalty?


MR. MUSTILLO:  No, it has not.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you please turn to tab 3.  Do you recognize this document?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, I do.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you tell us what it is, please?


MR. MUSTILLO:  This is Energhx's request to the Board regarding the Board's decision and order that required Energhx to pay the $10,000 administrative penalty, and in this request Energhx sets out some reasons and asks for an additional period of time to make that payment to the Board.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Are you familiar with how many electricity retailer customers Energhx has had at various points in time?


MR. MUSTILLO:  This information that I am aware of is set out in the Board's reporting and record-keeping requirements, which require licenced companies to report this information to the Board.  My understanding is that Energhx had at some point in time in the number of nine low-volume customers, and to date, based on the latest filings that I have seen, I believe that number is now six low-volume electricity customers and zero gas marketing customers.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  So that is according to Energhx's filings with the Board?


MR. MUSTILLO:  That's correct.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you look at tab 4, please, Mr. Mustillo.  Can you please tell us what this document is, if you recognize it?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, so this is a letter from the Board in response to Energhx's request for an additional period of time to pay the penalty, and in this letter the Board does grant an additional period of time for Energhx to pay the penalty, and it indicates in the letter that the Board extends that deadline date to June 28th, 2013.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Just one moment, please, Madam Chair.


All right.  I just want to ask you, the date of the original order under tab 1 was March 26th, 2012, right?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And this letter says:

"The Board will therefore extend the date to June 28, 2013, marking a one-year period from the date of the issuance of the Board's decision and order."


Did I read that right?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, you did read that right.  I believe that it is simply an error in this letter, yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  So it's actually more than one year since the order was issued, right?


MR. MUSTILLO:  That's right.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Tab 5, please.  Do you recognize this document?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, I do.  This is a letter that I prepared and sent on behalf of compliance staff.  It's dated July 2nd, 2013.  I had confirmed with certain other Board Staff around this time, Staff in the finance department here at the Board, that Energhx had not made the payment.  When I received that confirmation, this letter was prepared and sent to Energhx, and it basically indicates that the payment has not been received and that that, in Staff's opinion, is a breach of an order of the Board under the OEB Act.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Tab 6, please.


MR. MUSTILLO:  This is a letter from Energhx of the same date of July 2nd, 2013, and in this letter Energhx requests an additional period of time to pay the administrative penalty.  I believe they request in this letter up to December 31st, 2013 to make the payment.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Tab 7, please.


MR. MUSTILLO:  Tab 7 is the Board's decision and order dated July 18th, 2013, which basically responds to the Energhx further request for an extension of time.


In this decision and order, the Board sets out that the Board does not intend to grant any further extensions, but does allow for a further brief extension to August 29th, 2013, to make –- to allow Energhx to make payment of the penalty.


The Board also indicates in this decision and order that if payment is not received by August 29th, 2013, that the Board intends to initiate steps to suspend or revoke Energhx's electricity retailer and gas marketer licences.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  I think you have already told us, but can you please read into the record, please, the last paragraph on page 3?


MR. MUSTILLO:

"The Board does not intend to grant any further extensions.  If payment is not received by August 29th, 2013, the Board intends to initiate steps to suspend or revoke Energhx's electricity retailer and gas marketer licences."


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  Tab 8, please.


MR. MUSTILLO:  Tab 8 is a letter dated July 22nd, 2013.  I prepared this letter and sent it to Energhx.  The letter is on behalf of compliance staff, and the letter is regarding the special conditions which were discussed earlier that are set out in Energhx's licences from April 2012.


And the letter states that the Board has not received that information from Energhx by the date that it was required, which was June 28th, 2013.  The letter indicates that:

"In staff's opinion, Energhx has failed to comply with a provision of an order of the Board and a condition of licence."


And the letter goes on to indicate that if the information is not filed by Energhx, compliance staff will take steps to seek a suspension or revocation of the licences.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  Tab 9, please.


MR. MUSTILLO:  Nine is a letter dated August 30th, 2013.  It is also a letter that I prepared and sent.  It's on behalf of compliance staff.  The letter was sent to the Board, with a copy to Energhx.


And the letter indicates that compliance staff opposes Energhx's further request of time to pay the penalty, which was made, I believe, on August 30th as well, or the day before.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you just please read the last sentence there into the record?


MR. MUSTILLO:

"Accordingly, compliance staff intends to take steps to suspend or revoke Energhx's electricity retailer and gas marketer licences as per the Board's July 18th decision."


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  Tab 10, please.


MR. MUSTILLO:  Tab 10 is a letter from Energhx dated August 30th, 2013.  It's a letter in response to the Board's decision of July 18th, which granted the additional brief request to August 29th to make payment.  And the letter from Energhx states -- gives similar reasons as the previous two requests, and indicates that Energhx would -- that Energhx requests until December 31st, 2013 to make payment.


MR. SCHUMANN:  All right.  Tab 11, please.  Do you recognize this document?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes.  Tab 11 is Energhx's electricity retailer licence issued by the Board.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you turn to page 3 of the licence, please, and look at clause 11.1?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you read that, please?


MR. MUSTILLO:

"The licensee shall pay all fees charged and amounts assessed by the Board."


MR. SCHUMANN:  Do you understand the administrative penalty to be a fee charged or amount assessed by the Board?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And please turn to page 5 of the licence.


Are these four items the special conditions imposed by the Board's order of April 2012?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes.  These are the four special conditions of licence that I described earlier.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  Tab 12, please.


MR. MUSTILLO:  Tab 12 is Energhx's gas marketer licence issued by the Board.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Please look at page 2, clause 10.1.


Is that the same as clause 11.1 in the electricity retailer licence?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, it is.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And finally page 5 of the gas marketer licence, are those also the special conditions from the April 2012 order?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Please go to Tab 13.  Do you recognize this document?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, I do.

MR. SCHUMANN:  What is it?


MR. MUSTILLO:  This is the Board's invoice to Energhx dated April 1st, 2013, and it is an invoice for the annual registration fees, the annual licence fees for 2013/'14 fiscal year for its electricity retailer licence.  The invoice is in the amount of $800.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  And where it says on the right-hand side of the page "terms net 30 days," does that mean that the invoice is payable 30 days after April 1st, 2013?  So April 30th or May 1st, 2013?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes.  My understanding is the invoice was payable May 1st.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Look towards the bottom of the page, please.  You see the paragraph beginning "important"?  Can you please just read that paragraph?


MR. MUSTILLO:

"It is a condition of your Ontario Energy Board licence that the amount noted in this invoice be paid within the proscribed time.  Your licence conditions are each an enforceable provision of the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998, and sanctions for non-compliance may include financial penalties, licence suspension, and revocation."


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Tab 14, please.


Am I right that this is an invoice that is identical, except it pertains to the gas marketer licence rather than the electricity retailer licence?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes.  The invoice number is different.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  Tab 15, please.  Do you recognize this document?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, I do.


MR. SCHUMANN:  What is it?


MR. MUSTILLO:  This is an e-mail from staff in the Board's finance department to Energhx.  It's dated August 12th, 2013, and the subject -- or it's regarding the two invoices regarding the 2013/'14 licence fees.


It indicates that the fees have been overdue for more than 90 days, and it goes on to indicate that -- it expresses that payment should be arranged of this account as soon as possible.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Tab 16, please.


MR. MUSTILLO:  This is a letter dated September 9th, 2013.  It's a letter from the Board.  It's a letter to Energhx regarding the annual licence fee for the electricity licence.  It's entitled:  "Final notice, non-payment of annual licence fee."

The letter indicates that an invoice was issued April 1st, that it was payable, that the Board has attempted to contact Energhx numerous times over the five-month period, that the amount of $800 is outstanding.  The letter reminds Energhx that they are required to pay all fees charged and assessed by the Board.  The letter reminds Energhx that the fee is a licence condition and therefore an enforceable provision of the OEB Act, for which non-compliance may lead to Board-imposed sanctions.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  Can you just turn over the page and read for me the paragraph that is in bold capital letters?


MR. MUSTILLO:

"Your immediate attention to this matter is required.  If Energhx Consulting fails to respond to this final note with full payment by September 27th, 2013, the Board may proceed to issue a notice of intention to revoke ER-2010-0236 licence."


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  And the last tab, tab 17, please.  This looks similar to the last tab.


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, it's the same letter, with the exception of -- that it's in reference to the gas marketer licence, it has the gas marketer licence number.  Otherwise it's the same letter.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Does it contain the same warning in bold capital letters?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, on the last page.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you, Mr. Mustillo.


I just have a couple more documents to show you.  These documents were provided by Energhx.  I am just going to have Mr. Mustillo identify them.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Schumann, are those copies of documents that we have in --


MR. SCHUMANN:  I am going to hand one to Board counsel now.  I understand you have them, because they were the documents that Energhx provided to you to rely on.  Actually, I don't need Mr. Mustillo to identify this document, so it's not necessary for me to ask him questions about it.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Schumann, did you want to make it an exhibit, or...


MR. SCHUMANN:  No, I will if I need to in cross-examining Mr. Ogedengbe.


MS. LONG:  So we're not going -- you don't want to proceed with having --


MR. SCHUMANN:  No.


MS. LONG:  -- this marked as an exhibit, and you are not going to ask Mr. Mustillo to identify it; is that correct?


MR. SCHUMANN:  That is correct, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Just one moment, please, Madam Chair.


Mr. Mustillo, as far as you know, has Energhx paid its two licence fees to date?


MR. MUSTILLO:  No.  The licence fees for 2013/2014 have not been paid.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Has the Board received, as far as you know, a reply to the letters reproduced as tabs 16 and 17?


MR. MUSTILLO:  No, not as far as I am aware.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you, Mr. Mustillo.  Those are my questions.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Schumann.


Dr. Ogedengbe, you now have an opportunity to ask questions of Mr. Mustillo related to the evidence that he has just given.

DR. OGEDENGBE:  Thank you very much.


I want to start with the last question that was asked, you know, in regard to whether I responded to the request for payment.  I did -- replied, and the Board should have a copy of that.  I don't have a copy with me here, you know.  So that's just to respond to that, and I can produce document later -- I mean, the letter, you know, officially that I sent in regards to that.


But the question I want to ask, you know, is regarding document I want to rely on in this hearing, and I want to start with the last one that I sent.  That is the report of the Board.  I don't know if you have a copy with you.


MS. LONG:  So Dr. Ogedengbe, does this relate to the evidence that Mr. Mustillo has given?  You will have an opportunity to put evidence forward and explain the documents that you have filed, but what we are asking you to do right now is to ask Mr. Mustillo any questions about the evidence that he has given.  So he did not discuss that document, so that would be something that you would discuss in your evidence should you choose to do so.  But the opportunity right now is to ask Mr. Mustillo anything about evidence that he has just given.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that clarification.  The only response that I have for the evidence that he has given is my response to the last response about whether I replied to the request for payment, you know.  So that is the only thing.  Apart from that, all the evidence that was given, you know, is clear to me, and I don't have any -- I mean, I don't have any, you know, cause, you know, to refute any of the evidence.  They are okay.


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Dr. Ogedengbe, can you repeat that?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Apart from the last, you know, response, you know, which he gave that the, you know, he wasn't aware whether I got -- I mean, I replied to the request for payment, that is the only one that I have -- you know, I refute, you know.  I am saying that I replied, you know, to the Board.  Apart from that all the other evidence is okay.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  So with respect to -- just respect to the documents that you have filed -- I believe there is tab 18, 19, 20, and 21 -- did you have questions with respect to those documents that have been filed that you wanted to ask Mr. Mustillo?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, that's exactly what I intend to go into.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, let's proceed with that and see where that takes us, so please do go ahead.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.  So that is the last -- the document that I sent is the report of the Board.  I want to ask Mr. Mustillo if --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  So first, sorry, Dr. Ogedengbe, just for -- let's identify your book of documents.  I think those 18, 19, 20, and 21 have been filed as one document, so can we mark those for -- as an exhibit?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  BOOK OF DOCUMENTS OF DR. OGEDENGBE.

MS. LONG:  And Mr. Mustillo, do you have those in front of you?


MR. MUSTILLO:  No, I do not.


MS. LONG:  So could somebody provide Mr. Mustillo with a copy of the documents so he knows what he is looking at?


Mr. Mustillo, do you have those documents in front of you?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, I do.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  so Dr. Ogedengbe, please proceed to ask your questions.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Ogedengbe:

DR. OGEDENGBE:  So the first document is the last one, tab 21, the document that says "Report of the Board, Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity Distribution, A Performance-Based Approach."  Did you have the document with you now?


MR. MUSTILLO:  Yes, I do.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  And then can you tell us a little bit more about the document?


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Dr. Ogedengbe, can you speak up a little bit?  I am having trouble hearing you.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Sorry, my question is that I am asking Mr. Mustillo if he can elaborate a little bit more on this Board document.


MR. MUSTILLO:  This appears to be the Board's report regarding the renewed regulatory framework for electricity distributors.  It was issued October 18th, as it's dated.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I want to point to a paragraph on page 47 on the document.  And it's the first -- the first paragraph reads thus:

"On November 23, 2010 the Minister of Energy issued a Directive to the Board requiring it to provide guidance to licensed electricity distributors and transmitters (among possible others) regarding the Board's expectations to -- I mean, in relation to smart grid activity.  In developing that guidance, the Board is to be guided by certain parameters of three objectives for the smart grid, namely, customer control objectives, power system flexibility objectives and adaptive infrastructure objective."


I want to ask about the phrase here in bracket, "among possible others", if you know possibly, you know, what, I mean, the market participant that is being contemplated by this document?


MR. MUSTILLO:  I think that my short answer would be I don't know who the other market participants that are contemplated are.


My understanding of this entire report, and specifically this directive that's being referred to in this paragraph from the Ministry of Energy, is that this relates to electricity distributors and transmitters, specifically.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.  So I want to ask about the smart grid activities that is being discussed about the document, and if possible the second paragraph that has discussed, you know, that would be guided.  I want to ask if you think the three activities that are being discussed to be the focus of smart grid activities -- which are the customer control objective, power system flexibility objective, and the adaptive infrastructure objective -- do you think that that has anything to do with demand side monitoring that Energhx has proposed as its major, you know, area of business operation?


MR. SCHUMANN:  Madam Chair, just before Mr. Mustillo answers, I just wanted to object to this line of questioning.


Mr. Mustillo has already told you that this document pertains to electricity distributors primarily, and to a certain extent to transmitters.  It doesn't pertain to electricity retailing or gas marketing, which are the areas of activity that we are concerned with today.  And it certainly doesn't have anything to do with the appropriate response by the Board when a licensee doesn't comply with Board orders or meet conditions of its licences.


So I think that there should be no further questioning about this document, simply on the basis of relevance.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  My understanding – please -- my understanding of Mr. Mustillo's response is that he doesn't know exactly, you know, the contemplation of that "among possible others."


He does not say that it does not include retailers.  He just said that he does not know what I -- you know, those that are included among the "possible others."


That's my understanding of his response.  He did not say that it does not include retailers.  So I would –- my assumption is that he can still respond to my questions about the document.


MS. LONG:  Perhaps, Dr. Ogedengbe, you could ask the question of Mr. Mustillo just so we are clear on the record.


MR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.  So the question I want to ask, that I am asking is that -- do you know the -- if the demand side monitoring that is the focus of Energhx business falls within the parameters that are discussed, these three parameters that are discussed in this Board document?


MR. MUSTILLO:  I could offer two -- two answers.  And I apologize if I don't understand the question, but I can offer the following.


This report is a report of the Board regarding the Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity, and as I understand it, the Board report is specific to licensed electricity distributors and transmitters.


I also understand that this report, and this Renewed Regulatory Framework more generally, has nothing to do with electricity retailing.


With regard to the question about Energhx's business and demand management, I can say that it's my understanding since Energhx has been operating its business -- I believe since 2009 Energhx was established as an engineering consortium as a start-up company, and since licensed by the Board also, I believe, since October 2009 -- that the primary focus of Energhx's business has been demand management, energy auditing and alternative energy solutions, specifically wind generation -- excuse me, solar generation projects.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.  My question -- my next question is on the -- you understand about what smart grid, you know, is all about.  That is in response to the fact that you said that you don't think retailers are being contemplated about the operation.


I want to ask if you would consider demand side monitoring possible without using retailing -- I mean licence.


MR. MUSTILLO:  I really don't know --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Madam Chair, just before Mr. Mustillo answers, just to assist the Board, on behalf of Board Staff I would submit it's not appropriate for Mr. Mustillo to be opining on Board policies and the extent to which those policies apply to the matters that are before the Board today.


The Board's policies in the renewed regulatory framework Board report are very clearly set out and apply solely with respect to electricity distributors.  The Board has issued papers and reports with respect to smart grid policies.  None of those issues, in Board Staff's view, are before the Board today.


The questions, issues, before the Board today pertain to retailing of electricity and the marketing of gas, and it would not be appropriate for a member of Board Staff to opine on the Board's policies, which are more appropriately to be pronounced by the Board as a whole and officially issued documents.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Djurdjevic.


I think that Mr. Mustillo has answered the question already with respect to whether this report pertains to retailers.


Dr. Ogedengbe, we have given you a bit of scope here for you to ask Mr. Mustillo about questions related specifically to your business and the activity that you undertake with your retailer licence and your gas marketer's licence.  So I would ask you to restrict your questions to things that directly pertain to the issues that are before us today, which are your licences and the Board's request of this Panel to revoke those licences.


So your questions to Mr. Mustillo should be grounded in the implications of that.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I don't intend to go beyond the matter before us today, you know.  What I am bringing before the Board is, you know, to focus on the activities of Energhx as, you know, involves demand side monitoring, as against the understanding, the conventional understanding of retailers operating that business only by using the licence to engage customers to buy just for supply and supply purpose, you know.


But the Energhx business is based on using that licence not primarily for supply purpose, but for smart grid investment activities.  And that's the understanding I am bringing before Mr. Mustillo, if he actually understands, since he knows that we are involved with demand side monitoring, to really ask what I really understood the activities to be not directly in -- confined to what the conventional marketers does.


So with that, I think we can address whether it is, you know, be appropriate for the Board to go ahead to revoke Energhx licenses.


So, but leaving that, I think I can proceed to establish, you know, before the Board, if we understood that Energhx activities before now has been mainly investment in smart grid as against normal supply of electricity and natural gas.  So I don't know whether the question should be to the Board, you know, or to Mr. Mustillo.


MS. LONG:  Dr. Ogedengbe, the issue before us today is the Board's intention to revoke your licence, and so really, going into great depth about what your business plan is and what the intentions are of your business on a go-forward basis are really outside the scope of what we are here to consider.


So you have asked Mr. Mustillo a few questions based on the documents that are here, but if you have anything else to ask him pertaining to the issues before us, which are non-payment of the administrative penalty, non-payment of your annual fees, and not filing the documents -- those are the allegations before us -- then I would invite you to ask Mr. Mustillo those questions.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I don't have any questions to ask beyond, you know, what I have asked.


MS. LONG:  So you are finished asking questions of Mr. Mustillo?  Is that correct?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yeah, based on the constraint given to me.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.


Board Staff, do you have any questions?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Board Staff has no questions for this witness, thank you.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then we are just going to caucus for a minute or two.  The Panel may have some questions for Mr. Mustillo.


[Board Panel confers]

MS. LONG:  Okay.  The Panel has no questions for Mr. Mustillo, so you are excused.  Thank you.


Oh, sorry, Mr. Schumann, did you have any redirect before we let Mr. Mustillo leave?


MR. SCHUMANN:  No.


MS. LONG:  No?  Thank you.


So what we propose to do now is take a short ten-minute break.  After the break, Dr. Ogedengbe, you will have the opportunity to lead evidence.  I am assuming that you have some evidence that you would like to put before the Panel, and we will proceed that way.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:33 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:47 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Dr. Ogedengbe, are you ready to give your evidence?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MS. LONG:  Then I ask that you come up to the dais here and we will have you affirmed.

DR. EMMANUEL OGEDENGBE, AFFIRMED


MS. LONG:  Please proceed.  So you are going to be referring to your documents?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MS. LONG:  In your document book, and that's marked K1.3?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, it was marked Exhibit K1.3.

Direct Evidence by Dr. Ogedengbe:


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I want to use the first document with me.  That's tab 18, I think.  That's the journal article; as a evidence of my business activities.  This journal is just one of the many publications I have made that shows that -- my involvement in the business.  So for the past four or five years that I have been involved with demand side monitoring, it's basically research activity on smart grid.


The second document is tab 19, which is an evidence of the filing of the intending patent that is titled, "Green Energy Credit Supply Service For Low-Volume Electricity and Natural Gas Consumers."  And that shows that my intention is to be -- to bringing smart grid innovation into the way consumers consume electricity and natural gas in Ontario.


The last evidence I have is the letter from -- my correspondence with Investment Ottawa.  It shows that I have intention of getting investment seed into the business.  You know, that up until this present time all that I had in terms of loans and personal loans from friends and other investment, you know, has been to develop the smart grid infrastructure that we are working on, and we are looking to investment interest before we go into the market.


So with all this evidence, you know, what I am saying before the Board is that my activities has no need to compare with the conventional retailers and gas marketers, but up until the moment of the -- this present time, having squarely investing in the research and developing of a smart grid system.


Thank you.


MS. LONG:  Is that all the evidence you wish to give us, Dr. Ogedengbe?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Schumann will now have an opportunity to ask you some questions.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Schumann:

MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Mr. Ogedengbe, do you have there a copy of my book of documents, Exhibit K1.1?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Now, can you turn to tab 1, please?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Tab 1?


MR. SCHUMANN:  Tab 1, please.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You agree that this is an order of the Board, ordering Energhx to pay an administrative penalty of $10,000?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Dated March 26th, 2012?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And that that administrative penalty was due by December 31st, 2012?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Could you go to page 19 under tab 1, please?  Look at the second paragraph from the top, please.


It says:

"Compliance counsel submits that any purported benefit Energhx presents to the market in terms of advancing competition or green energy technology as a startup business is irrelevant for the purposes of setting an administrative penalty.  The Board agrees."


Did I read that correctly?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You understood that the Board was rejecting your argument that Energhx should be shown leniency because it was advancing competition or green energy technology?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And you understood that they were saying that the same rules should apply to Energhx as applied to people who weren't advancing competition or green energy technology?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you.  Please turn to tab 2.


This is an order of the Ontario Energy Board, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.

MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you turn to page 4, please?


Energhx was ordered to provide certain information to the Board, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Had to provide it by June 28th, 2013, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Had to provide audited financial statements for 2012?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Had to provide a description of its compliance program?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Had to provide the results of a testing program?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And it had to provide a description of its strategy for any further improvement needed to achieve continuing legislative and regulatory compliance, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You understood at this time that Energhx had to provide all that information, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you look at the last paragraph on page 3, please?  The last sentence there starting with:

"However, the issues raised by Staff with respect to the financial performance of the applicant have not, in my view, been fully answered, and the financial viability of the entity remains a concern."


You understood the Board was concerned with Energhx's financial viability, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yeah, I want to, you know, interrupt a little bit, you know.  And -- on the documents that we have here have no concern, you know, over the intention of the Board, you know, to suspend the licence of Energhx based on the regulations that is required, you know, and the allegation that was filed, you know.


What I am bringing before the Board, you know, today is, you know, my activities, you know, to lay it on record that it is different from the conventional orders of electricity licence and gas marketers.  That's my major, you know, submission before the Board.


So I am not refuting the allegation, you know, that is set in the document.  So what I am bringing, you know, before the Board is, you know, my immediate, you know, activities, you know, and if it can be sufficient for the Board to review, you know, the intention to revoke my licence, you know.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So when the Board said "the financial viability of the entity remains a concern", you understood that they were concerned about Energhx's financial viability, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  What I am saying is that I understand their concern based on an understanding that Energhx is involved in business activities.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So, yes, you understood?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  So that is the concern.  So my submission is that Energhx is not involved in business activities like other conventional suppliers.  I am -- we are involved in research activities, so, you know, investment activities in smart grid should be taken, you know, before the Board as different, you know, you know, and, you know, there would be a concentration, you know, here that I am bringing before the Board to see, you know, whether I have, you know, to be compelled, you know, to, you know, to the same, you know, standard like, you know, others, you know, that are involved in business activities, you know.  That's my submission.


So I am submitting before the Board, you know, that their concern, you know, should not be based, you know, on the fact that Energhx is involved in business activities.


MR. SCHUMANN:  When the Board said "the financial viability of the entity remains a concern", you understood that the Board was concerned about Energhx's financial viability, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I understand the Board is concerned based on their understanding that Energhx is involved in business activities.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  The Board goes on to say on page 4:

"I find that the licences will be granted for a two-year term to enable Energhx to improve its financial position and demonstrate its continued compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements.  I further find that the following reporting conditions should be imposed on the licence to allow the Board to monitor Energhx's financial progress and compliance with the licences."


Did I read that correctly?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, you read that correctly.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So you understood that the Board was giving you the two-year licence on the condition that you provide this information that would demonstrate Energhx's financial viability, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yeah, I have answered your question, you know, based on the concern of the Board.  Generally, you know, across everything that is put forward in a document.  My understanding is that the Board, you know, has a concern for every licence owner, because the concern is to be able to provide services to the customer, which Energhx is not at this material time, you know, engaged in.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So Energhx is not providing services to customers at this time?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  At this material time, yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  So then Energhx is not using its electricity retailer licence at the material time?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, that is what I want to address.  I want to address, you know, the fact that, you know, that the Board knows that demand side -- is it possible for Energhx to be involved with demand side monitoring without the licences?  That is the question.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So Energhx is not using its electricity retailer licence at this material time?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  The understanding -- I think the understanding of demand side monitoring have to be -- to be clear the context of the fact that smart grid, you know, investment activities as outlined in the Board document involve investment activities.  And investment activities, you know, involve all -- I mean, and comprises what Energhx is doing by its demand side monitoring.


So what Energhx has, you know, tried to do, you know, is to disengage, you know, from, you know, business activities, marketing activities.  So -- but the licences that it has is still relevant to develop the technology.

So I'm not -- Energhx is not involved in business activities, you know, because of the implication, you know, of, you know, being in conflict with the law, the regulation, you know, but, you know, the licences, you know, are still required, you know, for the, you know, the development of the technologies that Energhx is still working on.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Let me see if I understand.  Energhx is not retailing electricity, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, no.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Energhx is not marketing gas, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Energhx is looking for investment, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And it's researching, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And you believe that you need an electricity retailer licence to do research, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You also believe that you need a gas -- an electricity retailer licence to find investment, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  This order was dated April 30, 2012, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Since that time Energhx has not provided audited financial statements for 2012, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Has not provided a description of its compliance monitoring and quality-assurance program, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Since 2012?


MR. SCHUMANN:  Item 2 on page 4.  It says:

"Energhx will be required to file with the Board no later than June 28, 2013 the following information."


And item 2 is a description of Energhx's compliance monitoring and quality assurance program.  Energhx has not filed item 2, has it?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I think this response, you know, is what I am providing here.  I think I have said that, you know, before.  The activities of Energhx is, you know, this business -- I mean, is investment, you know, activities, which is, you know, different from business activities.


We, when -- I think maybe 2011 we file, you know.  We went through the auditing as required by the Board, and that was since then, you know, so the annual filing of the financial statement, we don't have it.  That is the obvious fact.  We don't have it because we don't have business activities on, and there is nothing to present, you know, other than the fact that we are making investment.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So you are saying that because you are not involved in business activities you don't have to provide this information, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I have provided my response, you know, as submitted to the Board, you know, only it is not detailed as expected of a business operator.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So, sorry, I just want to be very clear.  You have not provided item 2 to the Board, right?  I don't want to get into the reasons why you may or may not have provided it, but you have not provided item 2, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  You have not provided item 3, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And you have not provided item 4.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  And when this order was made, you understood that providing items 1 through 4 would become a condition of Energhx's licences, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I think I have said this over.  I think there is no need of continuing asking the question, based on your, you know, understanding of -- that Energhx is involved in business activities.  I have said everything I already said.  I think it covers everything regarding our business -- I mean our investment activities, as against regulars -- orders of licences.  I accept that, you know, that, as the Board required, it's based on the understanding that Energhx is involved in business activities.


But I have submitted to the Board, you know, the reason why we should be considered, you know, as investors in the smart grid energy system.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Sorry, you -- Energhx, rather, holds two OEB licences, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Who?


MR. SCHUMANN:  Energhx holds two OEB licences, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You understand that those licences impose obligations on Energhx, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  It doesn't have to do with what business activities Energhx may be engaged in; it has to do with holding the licences, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  And some of those obligations were to file items 1 through 4, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.

MR. SCHUMANN:  And to pay the $10,000 administrative fee, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.

MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Can you turn to tab 3, please? This is a letter you sent, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you turn to page 2, please?  Item 6, you say:

"Energhx promise not to resume all marketing activities and the use of its electricity retailing and gas marketing licences until these development activities are completed."


Did I read that correctly?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You put that in the letter that you wrote, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And you were saying that Energhx was promising not to use its electricity retailing and gas marketing licences, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And that you were going to do some development activities in the meantime, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  That I am doing -- involved in, you know, development activities.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Right.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And then once those development activities were completed, you may want to start using your licences again, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But that during the development activities that were going on, your licences were not necessary, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I think we are kind of revolving back and forth now, you know.  What I -- I think maybe the understanding here now is for you to possibly tell me if it is possible for me to be involved -- I mean, to continue my developing activities without destroying, you know, the smart grid technology that I have built, then it's okay by me.


I think I stated that in one of the correspondence that I made to the Board, you know, that it's okay if the Board, you know, would constrain.


The fact is that we have six account still, you know, with the model that we are developing and the access to information about all that, being done, you know, with that.  If our development activity is not going to be impacted by the constraint on our licences or suspension of the licences, we have no problem, you know, with that.


So what I have said is that obviously we are not using the licence now because of the challenge that we have, you know, trying to ensures that our model works.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Sir, I'm just asking you about what you said in the letter.  And I take item 6 as saying that you could pursue development activities without needing to use your licences; was that correct, that you said in the letter?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  The use of licences, what I have said, you know, to refrain myself again, with my understanding, the use of licences involve marketing, as against, you know -- still be relevant to continue monitoring the energy, the performance active -- the performance of the energy users within our existing model.


So the suspension of the licence that I propose is I don't –- is to constrain the licence to marketing activities, and not, you know, to revoke the licence.  Revoking licences means that the ongoing investment activity and development would not be possible.


So that's, you know, what I put forward in the letter.


MS. CONBOY:  Dr. Ogedengbe, if you don't mind me interrupting, I just want to make sure going forward that I understand correctly what it is.


So if you could confirm my understanding of what you are saying, in terms of the business that you are undertaking -- and I use the word "business" not in the sense you are saying:  We are not undertaking business activities.


So you are trying to attract investment for your demand side energy systems, and in order to do that, in order to do the work that you are undertaking, to publish the papers that you are working on and reach to those conclusions, you are dependent on data from these six existing customers that you have; do I have that correct so far?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  And you are saying in your letters:  Look, I am not undertaking, I am not actively going out and seeking new customers, so I am not using my retailer licence for that reason.  I am focusing on investing in these smart grid energy systems.  So that's fine if my licence is suspended or revoked.  However, in doing so I want to make sure that I am not going to lose access to the data from those six existing customers that I have.


Do I understand that correctly?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, I -- that's in principle what I have said, you know.


MS. CONBOY:  I know.  I am just re-saying it so that I make sure that I understand what you have said, what you --


DR. OGEDENGBE:  My immediate concern is only the use of the word "suspend" or "revoke".


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Could you elaborate a little bit, then, for me?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  So that is my immediate concern.  That's what I'm putting through, but if there is any –- if -- what I am saying is that I am okay with the constraint, you know, on my licences to prevent, you know, Energhx from the use of the licence.


But the licence is apparently required for the investments that Energhx has made so far.  Like, the patent, you know, it's ongoing, getting investors interest in what I am doing -- working on.  So that's basically to protect the investment so far and to complete the development, the smart grid development.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  So it's not as I have put forward?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yeah, so what you have said is in line with what I have said.  It is just, you know, I want to put it forward that it should be, with, you know -- with the understanding that the revoke should not take away all the access that I have to improve on what I am working on, and then to get investment interest and to finish the research activities that I am working on.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Schumann, continue.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Mr. Ogedengbe, can you please turn to tab 4.  This is a letter you received from the Ontario Energy Board, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Giving you an extension of the deadline to pay the administrative penalty to June 28, 2013, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And you understood that you had to pay the administrative penalty by that time, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But you didn't pay it by that time, did you?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  No.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Tab 6, please.  It's a letter from you, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Dated July 2nd, 2013.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You ask for another extension to pay the penalty, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Only after the deadline passed, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I don't know about that.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Well, the deadline was June 28th, 2013, wasn't it?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Oh, okay.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So you wrote this letter only after the deadline passed, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  In this letter you talk about having voluntarily suspended Energhx's marketing activities, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Since September 9th, 2011?


MS. LONG:  Mr. Schumann, sorry, just for our benefit up here, if you can refer to the paragraph when you put something to Mr. Ogedengbe, it would be helpful for us to follow along.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes, my apologies, Madam Chair.  Item 1 on page 1.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You talk about the voluntary suspension?

DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And that it's been in effect since September 9th, 2011?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Over the page at item 3 you talk about the developing and review of Energhx's marketing channels that's still going on, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And item 4, you talk about the redesign of Energhx's website that's still going on, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And item 5, you talk about all these steps being completed before April 30, 2013, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But then you have updated that point in the bullet point to say that that completion date is now impossible, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Item 6, you say Energhx, again, promise not to resume all marketing activities and the use of its electricity retailing and gas-marketing licences until these development activities are completed.  And you say in the bullet point "this voluntary resolution is still in effect", right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You don't mention anywhere in this letter that you are relying on data from your existing customers for development, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yeah, I don't think there is any reference to that in the letter.  But since Energhx files, you know, the required document with the file -- you know, with the Board, it is expected that -- it's obvious that we have the number of accounts, you know, holding, you know, our licences, and by that, you know, it directly implies that we will have datas, you know, as required by EBT.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  At tab 7, please.  Go to page 3.  This is an order of the Board giving you another extension to the deadline to pay the administrative penalty, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Extending it until August 29, 2013, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.


MR. SCHUMANN:  At the bottom of page 3 the decision says:

"The Board does not intend to grant any further extensions.  If payment is not received by August 29, 2013, the Board intends to initiate steps to suspend or revoke Energhx's electricity retailer and gas marketer licences."


Did I read that correctly?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You understood that this was your last chance to pay the administrative penalty, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But you didn't pay it by August 29th, 2013, did you?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  No.


MR. SCHUMANN:  At tab 8, please.  This is a letter you received, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Telling you that you had not filed the required information for the licences, the four items we've talked about?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  The last page -- the last paragraph says:

"Energhx is required to immediately file with the Board the information required by the order and the licences.  If the information is not filed by Energhx forthwith, compliance staff will take steps to seek a suspension or revocation of the licences."


Did I read that correctly?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You understood when you received this letter that if you did not file the required information then compliance staff would take steps to seek to suspend or revoke the licences, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yeah, I understand it based on what I have said, you know, earlier on, that the understanding of the Board is that Energhx is engaged in business activities that require us, you know, those auditings, and then, you know, of account, and if Energhx is treated otherwise, you know, as in, you know, someone using the licence at this material time, you know, for investment activities, those documents, you know, I mean, would definitely not be available.


So it is the intention of Energhx, you know, to comply, you know, with the requirement, you know, as stated by licence orders, you know, but the fact is that that condition does not -- I mean, the reality on ground is that our business does not, you know, have, you know, those document.


MR. SCHUMANN:  The letter is dated July 22nd, 2013, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You would have received it around that time?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Probably.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You didn't reply to this letter, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Definitely I should have replied.  I could get the document, but I don't have -- I don't have the evidence before me here.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But you...


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I didn't replied as in -- I didn't have those requirement, but I replied that we don't have, you know, that we -- Energhx is engaged in activities.  The issue here is that the conception of Energhx outside the framework of conventional -- and the gas marketer is the issue here.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But you didn't send compliance staff a letter saying that Energhx wasn't engaged in business activities and so it didn't have to file items 1 through 4, did you?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I did.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Oh, you did.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Do you have a copy of that letter?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I don't have it here with me.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  So you wrote a letter to -- this letter is from Mr. Karsan.  You wrote Mr. Karsan back and said Energhx doesn't have to comply with 1 through 4 because it's not engaged in business activities?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I don't -- I'm not saying -- I don't have the document with me.  I didn't say what the content of the, you know, of the letter, since I don't have it with me here, but what I did provide before the Board is that we are not engaged in business activities.  We have suspend our businesses of, you know, and then we are involved in demand side monitoring, and that is basically research activities that's evidenced by a document that I presented before the Board today.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Sir, did you reply to this letter and the point that you had not filed items 1 through 4 with the Board?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I replied -- what I said is that -- we replied to the Board, this letter, but the content of our reply is not, you know -- is not here with me to be read.  But I replied to this letter.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So your reply is not in my book of documents, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And it's not among the documents that you provided to rely on today, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.  But it should be.  There's a lot of documents what -- my understanding is there are a lot of document that I sent, you know, to the Board that are not, you know, in a document, but they are obviously in OEB website.  Just like the document you brought this morning.


So once I can find the document on OEB website, I know that they are received.  So that is the reason why I didn't have them with me.


MR. SCHUMANN:  I just want to be very clear.  It is your evidence that Energhx replied about items 1 through 4, and that the OEB would have a copy of that letter?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  I want to suggest to you that you didn't reply, that Energhx did not reply, and that the OEB has no such letter.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  You are suggesting.  You are not confirming.


MR. SCHUMANN:  I am suggesting that; do you agree with that?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Is a suggestion.  What I am saying is that the document is not here with me here, but we can look at the -- we can look at, you know, the record later, and I would provide the document that I -- the response that I have submitted.  It can be submitted to the Board later.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Do you remember round about when you submitted this response?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I don't have those data with me here.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Do you remember who you wrote to?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  No.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Did that person write back to you after your response?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  OEB doesn't, you know, respond to documents that are filed directly, you know, so the system response, you know, that is received.  So and that's okay.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So there was no such response from the OEB to your response?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I don't have the --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, Dr. Ogedengbe, are you saying that you filed the document in some way?  That you didn't send it to somebody at the OEB?


I am just wondering how that's possible.

DR. OGEDENGBE:  What I said is I responded to the request for us to file the document.  The detail of what was responded, since it was in, like, to -- I mean, what is expected, you know, as in financial statements and everything, that is the 1, 2, 3, 4, you know.


But just, you know, the fact that this is the position of Energhx and this is what we are doing, that is just the broad response that was sent.


So it is an acknowledgement of the fact that we got the letter and that our involvement, you know, in the business is basically investment and that we don’t have --


MS. LONG:  Right, but Mr. Schumann is asking you about your response to this letter.  And you are saying that you did respond to this letter but there is no copy of that letter before us today?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  And I think what he has put to you is that you didn't actually send that letter.  And I just want to confirm it is your position that you did send that letter, although you can't remember who at the OEB you sent it to; is that correct?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.  My position is we sent the letter, you know, but I don't –- I can't say specific data as in the date and time, who precisely, as -- as he is asking me.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  I just wanted to clarify the record on that point.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Can you go to tab 10, please, Dr. Ogedengbe?  This is a letter you sent?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Dated August 30, 2013?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Can you look at item 1, please?  But over the -- you say under the first bullet point:

"The voluntary suspension is still in effect since the development of the online marketing offering and other branding projects are ongoing."


Right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You don't refer to research that's going on, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  The research is part of the online marketing tools.  That is what demand side monitoring – demand side monitoring is online activities.  It is on software development, you know, and everything that we are doing is based on -- part of it is part of the evidence of the journal publication that was made.  It is an online portal.


MR. SCHUMANN:  I think online marketing offering is a website, right?  That's what online marketing is?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes.  You are working on developing Energhx's website, not developing demand side monitoring?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  What I have said, you know, online marketing, based on your understanding, you know, is different from -- I mean, online marketing that -- your understanding is different from the online marketing that I am referring in this document.


Online marketing that's involving in this document, it's all about demand side monitoring.  And the demand side monitoring, it's -- you know, it's a research based on the evidence of the work that we have done so far.  So everything is technology-based, you know.


We -- it's not available at the moment to the market, so we are not doing any marketing based on business.  We just research.  And so it takes time to develop that product.  It's the back -- it's background, you know, work that is being done, which is basically research work.

MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  And on page 2 at the very top, you talk about "our ongoing struggle to secure a financial bail-out", right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Is that a fair description of Energhx's financial situation at the time?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And Energhx has not secured the financial bail-out since then, right?

DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Tab 11, please, Dr. Ogedengbe.  This is Energhx's electricity retailer licence, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And Energhx was legally required to comply with the terms in the licence, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You would have seen and understood this licence when it was granted, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Now look at clause 11.1 on page 3.  It reads:

"The licensee shall pay all fees charged and amounts assessed by the Board."


Right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You understood this to mean that Energhx was required to pay the $10,000 administrative fee as a condition of its licence, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And that Energhx was required to pay its $800 dollar licence fees as a condition of its licence, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Turn to tab 13, please.  Sorry, the -- tab 12 is your -- Energhx's gas marketer licence, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And it contains materially the same terms as the electricity retailer licence, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And you understood them in the same way, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Tab 13, please.  This is an invoice that you would have seen from the Ontario Energy Board, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You agree with me that it requires Energhx to pay an $800 dollar licence fee for its electricity retailer licence, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


0MR. SCHUMANN:  By 30 days after April 1st, 2013, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Energhx has not paid that licence fee, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  If you look at the paragraph at the bottom, starting with "important", it says:

"It is a condition of your Ontario Energy Board licence that the amounts noted in this invoice be paid within the prescribed time.  Your licence conditions are each an enforceable provision of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 and sanctions for non-compliance may include financial penalties, licence suspension, and revocation."


Did I read that correctly?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And from that you understood that if you did not pay your licence fees your licence could be revoked, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, I understood, and Energhx responded as well, and unfortunately the response of Energhx is not included in the document before us here, you know, so the response was so – still give the condition of Energhx, I mean, and also request, you know, for exemption for the current year, you know, based on the financial incapacity, you know, of Energhx.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So you sent a letter to the OEB?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Requesting an exemption for the licence fee?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Did the letter say anything else?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Still the same thing as I am talking about.  I don't have the document with me here, so I don't have the detail of what was said.  It's just a response and request for exemption, you know, from the Board based on the circumstances, you know, of Energhx.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Do you remember round about when you sent that letter?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  I can't give the date, you know, with me here.  But I should -- I should believe it should be nearly after the final notice, you know, that was sent to Energhx.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Tab 15, please.  This is an e-mail to Theresa Ogedengbe.  Is that your wife, sir?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And she, I take it from her e-mail address at Energhx.com that she also works for Energhx; is that right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Theresa Ogedengbe, as you said, is my wife.  So that is just it, you know.  She is not in any way involved with the activities of Energhx.  It is just, you know, a partner with me, you know, and then also is contribution, is basically supporting me.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  I just want to establish that, although you didn't get this e-mail, it did go to Theresa, and it would have been brought to your attention by her, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yeah, I am aware of the -- I am aware of...


MR. SCHUMANN:  So you understood when you saw this e-mail that the two licence fee payments were overdue as of May 1st, 2013, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  The e-mail is due August 12th, 2013, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But you didn't pay the licence fees when you received this e-mail, did you?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  No.


MR. SCHUMANN:  All right.  Last, tab 16.  This is a letter again to Theresa Ogedengbe,; right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But you would have seen a copy, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  If you turn over the page, this is talking about the licence fee for the electricity retailer licence, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And in bold and capital letters it says:

"If Energhx Consulting fails to respond to this final notice with full payment by September 27, 2013, the Board may proceed to issue a note of intention to revoke electricity retailer licence."


Right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So when you saw this e-mail you understood that if you did not pay the licence fees by September 27th, 2013 Energhx's licences could be revoked, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But you did not pay the licence fees by that date, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, that is exactly what you have already addressed earlier on, that the response was sent after this letter.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So the response was sent after that letter of September 9, 2013?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So if we look in the OEB's files we will find a letter from Energhx, one letter talking about the required information, items 1 through 4, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  We will also find a letter asking for an exemption from the licence fee payment dated after September 9, 2013, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Okay.  Can you look at Exhibit K1.2, please.  Okay, sir.  Exhibit K1.2 is a letter that you sent, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Dated September 10, 2013?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And in that letter you request a hearing in this matter, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  You also say in the second paragraph:

"As a market participant who is engaged in the business of using its licences as stipulated by the act, the intention of the Board would be appropriate.  However, Energhx has voluntarily suspended the use of its licences".


You were saying there that Energhx was not using its licence at the material time, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Energhx has suspended the use of its licences.


MR. SCHUMANN:  That means that you were not --


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yeah, so does not necessarily means does not use its licences.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Well, that's how I read "Energhx has voluntarily suspended the use of its licence".  Are you saying that you had voluntarily suspended them but you were still using them?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, that still boils down to the understanding -- I think the major concern -- the major concern here is the perfect understanding of what smart grid activities that Energhx is involved with, it's, you know, involved.


So the use of the licences to be engaged in research activities as contemplated in the smart grid, you know, document, you know, is -- the understanding of Energhx is that the retainer of the licences, you know, is important to do that.  But Energhx is not using -- you know, has suspended its, you know, use -- "voluntarily suspended the use of its licences" means that we are not doing any marketing activities.  But we are still, you know, using the licence for the ongoing, you know, research activities that we are doing.


MR. SCHUMANN:  So am I right that you are not -- Energhx is not retailing electricity, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  And it's not marketing gas.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  Except for possibly the six existing customers, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MR. SCHUMANN:  But that it sees the licences as an important thing to have, not in order to use them, but in order to be able to attract investment, right?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Not -- it's not the same thing.  "We are not using them" means that we are busy developing the models that will enable us eventually to use them.


MR. SCHUMANN:  All right.  I think that's fine.


Just one moment, please, Madam Chair.


Those are my questions.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Schumann.


Board Staff, any questions?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We have no questions for this witness.  Thank you.

Questions by the Board:


MS. LONG:  Dr. Ogedengbe, this Panel is being asked to revoke your licence, your retailer licence and your gas marketer's licence.  You have put on the record that you acknowledge that you owe an administrative penalty, that you owe annual fees, and that you have failed to file certain documents.


So is there anything that you want to tell this panel before we make that decision?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, of course.  What I want to tell the Panel is that Energhx is -- has invested the past five years of its efforts on developing the smart grid technology in Ontario, which is obviously part of the mandate of the Board to encourage investment in that regard.


And also that Energhx has enjoyed the use of the licence to be able to access the requirement of engaging in those research activities.  It is obvious that Energhx is not using the licence like other, you know, conventional licence holders, but obviously Energhx need, to still be relevant in the marketplace, to be able to get a dividend out of the investment that it has made, you know, in the Ontario energy market.


So Energhx understand that the smart grid technology is new, not only in Ontario, you know, but every other part of the world, that the smart grid system is a new system and various market board are encouraging this -- this new technology.


So what Energhx is doing in Ontario is to be part of the player that is willing to invest, and is enormously invested into that.  What Energhx is asking the Board is, I mean -- is to recognize the activities of Energhx, and only encourage these activities, you know, to the extent that in the future the dividend of that investment can be extended into the marketing of electricity and natural gas.


So if this -- in recognition of these activities of Energhx in smart grid technology is recognized by the Board, we think that that would be helpful in --


MS. LONG:  I don't want to cut you off here, Dr. Ogedengbe, but I do want to understand your position a little more clearly.


Are you saying that it's your belief that because of the research that you are undertaking, the business that you are undertaking, that somehow the obligations and responsibilities of the retailer's licence and the gas marketer's licence are different because of what you are doing?


Because those licences bring with them rights, but they also bring responsibilities, and I am trying to understand what your position is with respect to the compliance orders that say that you have to do certain things.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yeah, the matter before the Board at the moment is the fact that Energhx has had problems, you know, filing some certain documents that -- that is required as, you know, someone that is engaged in providing services to the public.  Those documents, you know -- the intention of the Board is to ensure that those suppliers do not put the customer at risk.


So with that, you know, the position of Energhx is that we put a suspension on our activities since more than two years ago, because of that fact Energhx recognizes, and we have put them before the Board that that decision, you know, of the Board, recognizing the fact that, you know, the financial viability of the suppliers is very important, but Energhx is involved in something that is new compared to what other suppliers are doing, which requires time, you know, for it to mature and to develop.


And at that time, you know, whatever the obligations that we have, you know, we would certainly -- we are willing to pay, you know, and, you know, to address, but that we have a constraint at this material time we should have pleaded the Board to consider the situation of Energhx has been --


MS. LONG:  So I understand your position with respect to filing of documents.  I understand, although we have no evidence before us other than your testimony that you applied for an exemption for 2013 and '14 annual fees.  We have no documents before us stating that.


But my final question to you is with respect to the administrative penalty which the Board issued well over a year ago.  That penalty has still not been paid.  So what is your position on that?  Why have you not paid that penalty?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Okay.  Sorry if I have not addressed that.


I think in the -- in one of the documents -- and I have actually sent this to the Board as well -- our position is that we understand our responsibility to pay that.  And of course the extension that Energhx has put forward to the Board more than two times, you know, we recognize the fact that our intention is to pay those penalties.  It is just that all the efforts to get the money has just not materialized.  So what we are looking for is that if we, you know, put more effort in what we are doing, we definitely will pay the penalty.


We have not asked that that penalty should be taken away, you know, but it is unfortunate that we don't have the funds at this material time to pay that, because of what we are doing.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you for that information.

Just as I gave Mr. Schumann the opportunity to do redirect, if there is anything based on the questions that he asked you or I asked you that you feel you need to clarify, I would ask you to do that now.
Re-Direct Evidence by Dr. Ogedengbe:

DR. OGEDENGBE:  I think everything I want to clarify is still the majority of what I had said, you know, that we understand what we have done as far as the regulations are concerned, the requirement to pay the penalty.


We're just putting before the Board to consider the fact that our practice is not going to in any way, you know, put the -- the consumer in any risk.  We are taking the responsibility of all the risk involved, and that is what we are doing with the model that we are developing.


So we basically want the Board to recognize our situation and whatever it is to protect what we have done so far until when we are ready to come up with the -- the administrative penalty, you know, and then get to the market would -- we want the Board to recognize that we have that intention of coming back after we have completed all this research activity, that have been able to attract investment into the market -- I mean into the business.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you, Dr. Ogedengbe.  You are excused.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Thank you.  Out of the room or...


MS. LONG:  No.  Just please head back to your seat.


We're going to talk about some scheduling issues.  I believe, Mr. Schumann, you had made a request earlier this morning for an opportunity to provide us with written submissions; is that correct?


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  There is one other thing that I wanted to mention, and it's the suggestion that Energhx sent certain letters to the Board.  And I was just wondering if we might have an opportunity to recall Mr. Mustillo.  He can review the file.  We can complete the record about whether any such correspondence exists in the Board's file.


MS. LONG:  Is he prepared to do that now or does he need some time?


MR. SCHUMANN:  I hear from Mr. Mustillo that it wouldn't necessarily be a letter that he received, so it might require a broader review of other departments' files.  So I can't really tell you how long it would take.


I am in the Board's hands about whether you view that evidence as necessary.  I would say that even if there is some letter like that in the file, it seems fairly -- I certainly wouldn't suggest that if a letter like that exists it should change the result, but just so that the record could be as complete as possible, I thought I would raise --


MS. LONG:  Well, if I understand correctly, are we talking about a response to a July 22nd letter and a September 9th letter?


MR. SCHUMANN:  That is my understanding, yes.


MS. LONG:  Is that correct, Dr. Ogedengbe?  You are saying you sent letters in response to those two letters, so there's two letters that don't appear on the record that you say exist?  Is that fair?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, miss.


MS. LONG:  And there is also -- there's a third letter with respect to exemption for 2013/2014 annual fees; is that correct?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  That's the second letter.


MS. LONG:  That's the second letter.  So there is only two letters in total?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, it's the second letter.  It's the letter -- the first letter is in response to their comment to file certain documents, and then the second letter, it's the -- in response to a request for exemption from paying the annual fee.


MS. LONG:  All right.  If you would just give us a moment to caucus, please.


[Board Panel confer]

MS. LONG:  What we propose to do is ask both parties to check their files, so Dr. Ogedengbe, we would ask that you check your file with respect to those two letters, and we would ask the Board also to do a review, a complete review of its files.


To the extent that either of you find anything, we would ask that those documents be served and filed, and we are going to give you a deadline until next Monday to complete that.  Is that possible, Dr. Ogedengbe?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Certainly.


MS. LONG:  So next Monday, this Monday coming.  This being Thursday, I mean next Monday.  And then I don't think there is a need to reconvene on that.  I would expect that both parties could handle if anything comes up through their submissions.


MR. SCHUMANN:  I agree with that, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Is that fine, Dr. Ogedengbe?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Thank you, yes.


MS. LONG:  So the way the schedule will be is you will both search your records.  You will serve and file anything by Monday.  And then with respect to submissions, next Friday we would ask, Mr. Schumann, that you file your submission first, and then a week later, Dr. Ogedengbe, you will file your reply submission -- your submission, rather.  And then Mr. Schumann, if you could then do your reply by December the 16th.


Well, let's revise that.  I don't have a calendar in front of me, so what we will do is the first Friday for you, the second Friday for you, Dr. Ogedengbe, and then Mr. Schumann, I would hope by the Wednesday, Wednesday of that week, that you could have reply.  Is that doable, the 18th?


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  So everyone is clear about what the schedule will be going forward?


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  Okay.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Madam Chair, with respect to the filing of any additional documents the parties may find, would you like to request an undertaking of the parties and give that an undertaking number?


MS. LONG:  Yes, I would like separate undertakings from both far parties to do that.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  So it will be Undertaking J1.1 with respect to compliance staff to search the records of the Board for -- if you can just clarify -- correspondence responding to the Board's letters of July 30th and -- sorry, July 22nd and September 9th.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  FOR COMPLIANCE STAFF TO SEARCH THE RECORDS OF THE BOARD FOR CORRESPONDENCE RESPONDING TO THE BOARD'S LETTERS OF 22 JULY AND 9 SEPTEMBER.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And similarly, Undertaking J1.2 will be for Mr. Ogedengbe -- Dr. Ogedengbe to search his records and to provide -- file copies of such correspondence as well with the Board.^
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  FOR DR. OGEDENGBE TO SEARCH HIS RECORDS AND FILE COPIES OF CORRESPONDENCE RESPONDING TO THE BOARD'S LETTERS OF 22 JULY AND 9 SEPTEMBER.

MS. LONG:  Gentlemen, are you prepared to give those undertakings?


MR. SCHUMANN:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair?


MS. LONG:  Dr. Ogedengbe?


DR. OGEDENGBE:  If I may ask, I don't understand what's -- what that means.


MS. LONG:  That means you will search your records for those documents, you will look for them with due diligence, you will go through everything, and if you do find them you will provide them to Mr. Schumann and to the Board.


DR. OGEDENGBE:  Yes, please.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


All right.  If there are no other matters, then we are adjourned.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon proceedings adjourned at 12:05 p.m.
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